
 
 
 

September 3, 2025 
 
Ritchie Murray  
Acting Registrar 
Ontario Energy Board  
2300 Yonge Street, P.O. Box 2319 
Toronto ON, M4P 1E4 
 
Dear Mr. Murray, 
 
RE:  EB-2024-0198 Enbridge Gas DSM Plan Rollover – Submissions of CCMBC 
 
In its Procedural Order No.6 of August 16, 2025, the OEB directed that any written 
submissions on Enbridge Gas Inc.’s application for its 2026 Demand Side Management 
Plan by OEB staff and intervenors shall be filed with the OEB and served on Enbridge 
Gas and intervenors by Wednesday, September 3, 2025. These are the submissions of 
Concerned Manufacturers and Businesses of Canada (CCMBC). To save regulatory 
costs CCMBC shared its consultant with Energy Probe Research Foundation (Energy 
Probe) which explains similarities between the submissions of the two parties. 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
CCMBC submits that all programs with TRC-Plus ratio above 1.0 should be rolled over 
into 2026. This includes all the commercial and industrial programs available to its 
members.  All programs with TRC-Plus ratio below 1.0 should be phased out by the end 
of 2025 and not rolled over into 2026.  
 
 
Regulatory Background 
 
Enbridge Gas filed a multi-year natural gas demand side management (DSM) plan 
application with the Ontario Energy Board (OEB) on November 29, 2024. The 
application was filed for approval of a new natural gas DSM policy framework effective 
January 1, 2026 and a new multi-year DSM plan, inclusive of budgets, programs and 
targets, from January 1, 2026 to December 31, 2030.  
 
On March 20, 2025, Enbridge Gas filed a letter with the OEB requesting that the OEB 
place the application in abeyance to allow for the filing of updated evidence in response 
to the Government of Canda’s decision to set the federal carbon charge to zero 
effective April 1, 2025.  On June 20, 2025, Enbridge Gas requested to roll over the 
2023-2025 programs into 2026 and filed updated evidence for its 2026 DSM Plan.  
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On July 3, 2025, the OEB issued Procedural Order No. 4 which, among other things, 
took the application out of abeyance and established procedural steps for the balance of 
the proceeding.  On July 18, 2025, the OEB Issued Procedural Order No. 5 which 
provided findings on certain intervenors’ evidence and announced scheduling changes 
for procedural steps. A technical conference focused on the Residential Program was 
held on July 25, 2025. On August 18, the OEB issued Procedural Order No.6 setting the 
schedule for written submissions. 
 
 
 
Rollover Application 
 
In its rollover application, filed on June 20, 2025 Enbridge Gas requested OEB approval 
of the following items. 
 

• For an order or orders approving the Company’s 2026 DSM Plan Application, 
which reflects a one-year extension of the OEB-approved 2023-2025 DSM Plan 
with no modifications to the DSM Framework. 

 

• Approval of the DSM programs for 2026 including the Residential Program, the 
Low Income Program, the Commercial Program, the Industrial Program, the 
Large Volume Program, the Energy Performance Program, and the Building 
Beyond Code Program; 

 

• Approval of the DSM budget of $199,797,689 for 2026, to include the budget into 
rates for 2026, and to continue to use the Deferred Participant Costs mechanism 
for 2026 for the Whole Building Pay for Performance Offering, the Residential 
Savings by Design Offering, and the Affordable Housing Savings by Design 
Offering.  

 

• Approval of the DSM scorecards for 2026 and of the DSM shareholder incentive 
mechanism and amounts for 2026. 

 
In its evidence Enbridge Gas requested final approval from the OEB for this rollover 
application by September 30, 2025, to avoid any interruption to DSM programs. It stated 
that if a decision on 2026 DSM programs is not issued by September 30, 2025, 
Enbridge Gas may have to suspend DSM programs and spending, including for 
programming that is jointly delivered with the Independent Electricity System Operator 
(IESO). Enbridge Gas submitted that this outcome would not be in the public interest. 
Enbridge Gas claimed that the 2026 DSM Plan reflects a one-year extension of the 
OEB approved 2023-2025 DSM Plan with no modifications to the DSM Framework, and 
to avoid unnecessary delays, ratepayer costs, and regulatory burden.  
 
Enbridge filed its forecast of the 2025 programs reproduced as Table 1 on the next 
page, that showed that many have a TRC-Plus ratio of less than 1.0. 



EB-2024-0198 Enbridge Gas DSM Plan Rollover – Submissions of CCMBC 

 

 

3 

 

 

 
 
The OEB commented on the evidence filed by Enbridge and directed it to file additional 
evidence.1 The OEB stated that “it has a primary objective of ensuring that the rates it 
approves are just and reasonable. Enbridge Gas has requested approval of 
approximately $200 million in ratepayer funding for the continuation of DSM programs in 
2026. More than 40% of the total 2026 budget is proposed for the Residential Program 
which, as proposed, will result in more costs than benefits. Although the Residential 

 
1 Procedural Order No.4, July 3, 2025 
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Program and offerings Enbridge Gas proposes to continue are largely consistent with 
those approved by the OEB for 2023 to 2025, the circumstances now are different than 
they were when the OEB approved the Residential Program in November 2022. Two 
central variables have changed: the closure of the joint residential whole home program 
with Natural Resources Canada and the removal of the federal carbon charge. Enbridge 
Gas has noted the material impact these changes have had on cost-effectiveness. For 
these reasons, the OEB has set out procedural steps below that will allow parties to 
seek additional information specifically related to the Residential Program before 
making submissions.”  
 
The OEB directed Enbridge Gas to file detailed forecast 2026 cost-effectiveness 
information, including forecast TRC-Plus calculations and input values, including 
avoided costs, anticipated participation and measure mix, and any other relevant 
information that explains the low TRC-Plus ratio and how this value can be increased to 
ensure benefits outweigh costs.  
 
In response Enbridge filed additional evidence on July 9. The additional evidence shows 
that only the Residential Smart Home Program has positive Net Benefits and a TRC-
Plus ratio above 1.0.2 Enbridge indicated that it “does not believe there are any 
adjustments that can be made to the Residential Program (beyond the adjustments the 
Company has already made) under the DSM Framework that can ensure the TRC-Plus 
ratio for the 2026 Residential Program will be above 1.0.”3 
 
 
Submissions of CCMBC 
 
Total Resource Cost (TRC) test is used to calculate the cost effectiveness of potential 
DSM programs. In the DSM Framework4 the OEB adopted the TRC-Plus test that 
includes a 15% adder to account for non energy benefits. It “measures the energy 
related benefits and costs of DSM programs experienced by both the gas utility system 
and program participant for as long as those benefits and costs persist5.  Evidence 
shows that benefits do not persist in 2025 of many Enbridge Gas DSM and are unlikely 
to persist in 2026.  Ratepayers should not be forced to pay for programs that have 
greater costs than benefits.  
 
Enbridge Gas claims that because the entire DSM budget has a TRC-Plus ratio of 
above 1.0 it should be rolled over into 2026. This implies that programs with TRC-Plus 
ratio above 1.0 should subsidize programs with TRC-Plus below 1.0. Since many of the 
programs with TRC-Plus ratio above 1.0 are for commercial and industrial customers, 
Enbridge’s proposed rollover would force these customers to subsidize residential 
customers unless the costs of residential DSM programs are only allocated to 

 
2 Exhibit D, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Attachment 1, Filed: 2025-07-09 
3 Exhibit D, Tab 1, Schedule 1, Page 4, Paragraph 10 
4 EB-2014-0134, Report of the Board, Demand Side Management Framework for Natural Gas Distributors 
(2015-2020), December 22, 2014, Page 33 
5 Ibid., page 32 
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residential customers. In its reply submission Enbridge Gas should confirm that 
commercial and industrial customers will not be subsidizing DSM programs for other 
customers.  
 
Some parties may argue that a lower discount rate should be used6 to improve the 
TRC-Plus ratio of residential programs. Enbridge uses the OEB DSM Framework rate of 
4% real7. CCMBC submits that using a lower rate would imply that residential DSM 
programs are of lower risk than other programs. There is no evidence that they are. 
Parties may also argue that certain residential programs should be modified.  CCMBC 
submits that the application by Enbridge Gas is for continuation of 2025 DSM Programs 
without modifications. CCMBC submits that there is insufficient evidence on the record 
for the OEB to order Enbridge Gas to modify any programs.  
 
CCMBC submits that only programs with TRC-Plus ratio above 1.0 should be rolled 
over into 2026. As all programs for commercial, industrial and large volume customers 
have a TRC-Plus ratio above 1.0, they should all continue and be rolled over as should 
the Residential Smart Home Program. 
 
CCMBC submits that all programs with TRC-Plus ratio below 1.0 should be phased out 
by the end of 2025 and not rolled over into 2026. This includes most residential 
programs and all low income programs. Support for low income customers should come 
from taxpayers and not from commercial and industrial customers.  
 
Respectfully submitted on behalf of CCMBC. 
 
 
 
 
 
Tom Ladanyi 
TL Energy Regulatory Consultants Inc. 
416-423-3685 
tom.ladanyi@rogers.com 
 
 
 
CC: Catherine Swift (CCMBC) 
 Enbridge Gas Regulatory Proceedings 
 Parties to the Proceeding 
 
 
 
 

 
6 TC Tr. Pages 22-24 
7 TC Undertaking JT1.1 
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